FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/15/2021 11:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/15/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 99672-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

K.M.P., a minor child, by and through her natural mother and custodial parent,

SARAH HALL PINHO.

Respondents,

v.

BIG BROTHER BIG SISTERS OF PUGET SOUND and MICHAEL WAYNE SANCHEZ,

Petitioner.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Treated as a Petition for Review

KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. 17-2-19614-2 KNP COA - Div.I No. 802933

DATED this 15th day of April, 2021.

Is Peter T. Connick

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Michael Sanchez, appellant/petitioner, seeks review of the 2/22/21 Court of Appeals Division decision(s), denial of reconsideration on 3/16/21 which affirmed these trial court orders:

(a) 5/15/19 orders of denying Sanchez's motion to continue the trial date, and for withdrawal/substitution. (b) 6/21/19 orders granting summary judgment; 7/23/19 and denying reconsideration. (c) 9/18/21 order for RCW 4.25.510 sanctions against Sanchez. (d) Court of Appeals exclusion of parts of the trial court record. (Objection filed 12/20/20). Copies attached per (RAP 13.4 (c) (9)).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW:

This court should accept review because:

- ► RAP 2.3(1)&(2). The decision conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions below and review is warranted:
 - (a) Richmond v. Thompson, 130 Wn. d 368 (1996).
 - (b) Leishman v. O.M.W, 196 Wn.2d 898 (2021).
 - (c) Davis v. Cox, 180 Wn. App. 514 (2014)
 - (d) Johnson v. Ryan, 186 Wn. App. 562 (2015)
- ► RAP 2.3(3). The decision raises significant constitutional questions.
- (a) Due Process rights listed in Part IV, i.e. right to Counsel, right to

be heard (and read), and right to be present and present evidence.

- (b) Whether the right to defend against lawsuits is a constructive waiver of SLAPP immunity from defensive counterclaims from the same transaction. See (4)(d) below.
- ► RAP 2.3(4). The decision involves the following substantial issues of public interest that only this court can determine:
- (a) In expanding and misapplying *Leishman's* holding that "person" *can* mean "persons" within an organization (who can share SLAPP immunity), to any loosely associated group, causes such uncertainty, that it denies access to justice for those who can't afford to risk SLAPP sanctions, in this case, \$40,000 for an indigent to litigate a narrow RCW 4.24.510 motion.
- (b) Like tenpins in a bowling alley, it unhinged this court's balance of access to justice vs. rights to access government.
- (c) It eviscerated protections against the malicious defamation of an attention-seeking minor, as if the minor were talking with law enforcement, not a mentor who the trial court had already ruled has no duty to KMP a minor who resisted talking to police.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sanchez's submitted deposition, photos, and police reports support the facts below. On 4/29/16, KMP approached Sanchez on a pier, complaining she never caught a fish. Sanchez handed her his pole, holding the top so the fish wouldn't pull it into the water. To keep KMP from sliding into the lake, Sanchez held the end of KMP's long coattail while she lay face down washing her hands. Thirty (30) minutes later, Sanchez learned of KMP's delayed accusation that KMP told Darla Tishman. Ms. Tishman called 911. Sanchez ran to the pier to talk to police and gather witnesses watching close by, which demonstrated his confidence that witnesses would confirm his innocence. KMP's conduct also implied Sanchez's innocence - i.e., KMP resisted talking to police because she "knew" nobody saw any molestation and Sanchez would deny it. KMP knew witnesses surrounded them, which supported the inference that KMP "knew" nobody saw any improper touching because it didn't happen. Another inference: Sanchez knew the crowd would stop him if he tried. Neither court

considered these inferences. Chang never raised them, consistent with his conflict of interest.

Sanchez made his Alford plea to reduce his risk from life in prison to 16 months, but got life anyway when the State filed its SVP petition against Sanchez alleging the unproven KMP allegation as its jurisdictional predicate offense. KMP then filed a private civil suit against Sanchez, naming BBBS and mentor Darla Tishman as codefendant for negligent supervision. KMP filed psychologist records to show KMP was disturbed, alleging BBBS's negligent-selection of mentor Tishman, who lacked clinical expertise. But the court dismissed defendant Tishman because she had no duty to "protect" KMP, and ordered a CR 35 psychiatric evaluation of KMP. Sanchez's DPD Attorney, Edward Klein, filed a NOA on Sanchez's behalf seeking the evaluator's records. In response, KMP filed a CR 41 motion to dismiss Sanchez without prejudice. Sanchez was faced with CR 41 dismissal that would delay his chance to prove innocence to convince the SVP prosecutor to dismiss, knowing they could not prove the KMP

incident (Alford plea) to an SVP jury. So with counsel's advice, Sanchez filed his CR 41 objection to dismissal with his defamation counterclaim. The trial court denied KMP's CR 41 motion, accepting Sanchez's counterclaim. Private counsel Ken Chang replaced Attorney Klein pro bono. All of KMP's 12(b)(6) motions against the counterclaim failed. Chang neglected the case for 10 months as scheduling order deadlines expired. As the trial date approached, Chang admitted his malpractice in his motions to withdraw and continue, since, objectively Chang faced discipline and malpractice liability. KMP offered a suggestion: The court could find that 4.24.510 immunity invalidated the counterclaim as worthless which would moot Chang's neglect. Chang needed to lose summary judgment. So Chang moved to withdraw to substitute an attorney who could evaluate KMP's SLAPP defense without the confirmation bias that confronted Chang. Chang submitted two declarations in his motion to continue and withdraw, which articulated the conflict. The trial court denied Chang's motions without hearing or comment. Summary judgment proceeded. The

court found no prima facie case on falsity, malice, or damages and found SLAPP immunity. This rendered as res judicata the RCW 4.24.510 defense of bad faith because the court had pre-judged facts on whether SLAPP applied, and the bad faith defense prior to the SLAPP hearing. Nothing in the record supports Chang having explained the gravity of the hearing to Sanchez or allowed his option to appear by phone which is routine from McNeil Island. The Court Records showed Chang having timely filed Sanchez's deposition with highlighted details explained above, but nothing on the record shows the court's acknowledgement of them. This enabled KMP to successfully argue that bare denial of allegations is insufficient to establish the falsity element.

IV. ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial and appeals decision conflicts with Supreme Court holdings which necessitates this court's review.
- **A.** Leishman case: Division One's decision has changed the legal landscape by its reliance on Leishman's definition of "person" far beyond its scope, thus requiring parties to guess whether their claim

will succeed or fail with heavy sanctions. The appellate holding thus increased the risk premium on any First Amendment right to recover damages beyond what Leishman intended. Leishman was decided just before the court's decision. (Leischman opinion 01/28/21; KMP v. Sanchez's reply brief 04/03/20; opinion 03/19/21). This left no chance for parties to learn the legal theory the court would select: whether the term "person" means "people", which could be any group of persons sharing communal immunity. Sanchez's counterclaim was straight-forward. There was no factual or legal basis for Tishman to share her SLAPP immunity with KMP. Tishman was a chaperone on a social outing, not an "agent" of an organization that included KMP. In applying Leishman, the appeals court reclassified Tishman and KMP as one, composite "person". But Leishman does not make multiple persons into one person without other factors. They were not a corporation, government contractor, or homeowner's lobbying group. Each of these groups functioned to provide information to government. In contrast, the KMP court dismissed Tishman as a party because

Tishman was a private person with no duty to KMP. To decline review would muddle *Leishman's* criteria for designating any group of "persons" into one "person" to share immunity. *Leishman* interpreted "person" to "also be read as people - "RCW 4.24.510 tolerates some degree of over-inclusiveness: in order for the immunity to protect against the burden of litigation that would deter people from reporting information to the government, any person who communicates information reasonably of concern to the government must be immune to suit based on the communication." *Leishman* 196 Wn.2d at 899, 908.

This would allow any court to deem any group as one "person" and sharing in each other's RCW 4.24.510 immunity by cobbling together some theory that unites them into one "person" such as a *qualified* common interest privilege, child abuse reporting statutes, etc. Then just apply *Leishman* to allow all courts to deem any group of people to be one private person with communal SLAPP immunity, thereby extending *Leishman's* "person" beyond its holding and the decisional history it cites, namely, corporations

or businesses delegated to communicate with law enforcement. But KMP's communication to Tishman and Pinho, and Tishman's later call to 911 were separate and distinct communications - Tishman's call to seek government services and KMP to seek childish attention. Tishman had absolute immunity because she sought police services. But Leishman does not make KMP and Tishman a single person with shared immunity. Even if Leishman had meant for Division I to apply it as it did, this case still merits review to explain whether Leishman meant that any amorphous group can share SLAPP immunity such as a minor and her social mentor, or based on child abuse reporting qualified immunity, so any court can bootstraps absolute SLAPP immunity onto the qualified immunity of "common interest" or other privilege. In Leishman, the AGO (a government agency) hired the OWM law firm to investigate employee misconduct. Termination resulted. The employee sued the law firm and its government-contracted investigator, alleging their investigator's defamatory statements were not SLAPP-protected because they were not directed to government. This Court rejected

that argument because the government (AGO's) contract made OWM into the government's investigative organ so the firm could be a single person under the definition of "person", reasoning they are like agents of each other and are thus one "person". But this result rested on two legal constructs: (1) the government contract made the investigating agency (OMW) an arm of the government. (AGO); and (2) any individual person who made defamatory statements to and within the scope of the investigating firm's function to provide law enforcement with information, thus sharing imputed SLAPP immunity among firm members. The concurring opinion mentioned the agency theory. This court clarified the legislative intent of the SLAPP definition of "person", to mean it "can include" a singular organization with multiple "person(s)" with shared immunity regardless of which spokesman reports to law enforcement. This court's examples allowed shared SLAPP immunity in the limited circumstances: i.e., organizations which function to give information to government. In expanding *Leishman*, Division I reasoned that KMP and Tishman are like the OMW, the

AGO firm contracting with government to investigate the employee's misconduct. Or, that KMP's mentor Tishman, was like part of the lobbying group in *Right-Price Recreation*, *LLC v*.

Connells Prairie Community Council, 146 Wn.2d 370, 384 (2002)

(groups were entitled in Prairie Council to statutory immunity on a developer's claim for defamation, as the developer failed to establish that the groups' statements at public meetings were made with actual malice.)

However, the Supreme Court has held that government agencies are not "persons" under the statute. Segaline v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 169 Wn.2d 467, 470 (2010) (plurality opinion). In both cases of Prairie Council and Segaline, the organizations were conceptually one "person" and therefore shared SLAPP immunity for direct communications to government, even if the communications were through a spokesman. But here, the court, without any notice to the litigants, applied Leishman beyond its facts to coalesce two persons, neither of whom was de facto or by law a "spokesman" for the other. This also denied Sanchez's right

alone to have them adjudicated by a jury or fact finder, as this court required in *Davis*, *supra*. Such facts include that neither KMP nor Tishman had a contract or function to give law enforcement information, nor were they "agents" of each other, nor can Tishman be considered "in loco parentis" when the trial court dismissed her as KMP's defendant precisely because she had no such responsibilities for KMP who resisted talking to police.

Every child abuse reporting statute gives immunity to all reporters but they already limit child abuse reporting immunity to good faith (which malice overcomes). These are fact issues that the courts denied Sanchez and his right to adjudicate. If this decision stands, fewer lawyers would dare take cases with this uncertainty about *Leishman's* scope, when it's uncertain whether a mentor program, religious sect, or book club, shares each other's SLAPP immunity as one "person". Would the Three Musketeers share immunity as one person being "All for one and one for all"? The court's holding that it is absurd not to find that people relaying

child abuse had communal SLAPP immunity, it is not at all absurd. A less-hyperbolic summary of the law the appellate decision generalizes is this: For any minor who knowingly communicates malicious defamation to private persons, and where tort law holds such minor at the age of capacity to know the wrongfulness of her tort, then yes, she will have to call the police him/herself to get SLAPP immunity beyond the qualified immunity already afforded. Robinson v. Lindsay, 92 Wn.2d 410, 413 (1979) (holding that when activity a child engages in is inherently dangerous, like operating dangerous machinery, the child should be held to an adult standard of care); Berry v. Howe, 39 Wn.2d 235, 238 (1951) (affirming the trial court's finding that an 11-year-old caddy was guilty of contributory negligence for failing to protect himself from being hit in the eye by a golf ball); Brown v. Derry, 10 Wn. App. 459, 464 (1974) (affirming the trial court's holding that a 16-year-old was guilty of contributory negligence for injuries he sustained from riding on the trunk of a moving car while wearing a wetsuit).

These child tort liability cases do not produce the image of

helpless children who must dial 911 themselves for relief from child abuse. Tort law already defines the classes of children exempt from defamation liability so small children don't call the police themselves to enjoy absolute immunity from malicious defamation. In *Garratt v. Dailey*, 46 Wn.2d 197, 79 P.2d 1091 (1955), the Supreme Court observed that children under 6 may be held liable for volitional, wrongful conduct. Exceptions are trial issues, not CR 56 issues.¹

Child abuse immunity protects children, SLAPP protects against litigation. When kids play with matches, the law allows recovery. It is far from "absurd" to limit absolute SLAPP immunity to communications direct to law enforcement. Unlike communications to those from whom a minor seeks attention, statements to law enforcement function to access government. The

¹ E.g., see *Graving v. Dorn*, 63 Wn.2d 236237, 386 P.2d 621 (1963): "In cases involving children of from seven to fourteen years, that the question of the capacity of such child was a question of fact...since the presumption of incapability did not attach at such ages.

qualified common interest privilege defines the limits of immunity to defamatory statements to family members.² No statutory construction allows the appeals court to infer SLAPP's absolute immunity to protect children when the very statutes the appeals court cites provide only qualified immunity. *Leishman* recognized this delicate balance. In the SLAPP statutes' amendments there is absolute immunity for all statements to government (not private persons) because even people with good faith could be burdened with litigation challenging said good faith. But the appeals court's vague, amalgamation of groups of people into one "person" sharing SLAPP immunity necessitates this court's review.

B. Conflicts with *Richmond v. Thompson* (supra), and Supreme Court approved Jury Instructions.

The trial court's dismissal also contradicts the Supreme Court's decision in *Richmond v. Thomson (supra*). The Supreme

² E.g., *Valdez-Zontek v. Eastmont Sch. Dist.*, 154 Wn. App. 147, 5 P.3d 339 (2010) - this privilege generally applies to organizations, partnerships and associations, and arises when parties need to speak freely and openly about subjects of common organizational or pecuniary interest.

Court's approval of the jury instruction that defines "malice" in the disjunctive, where knowledge of falsity alone established prima facie evidence for clear and convincing evidence of malice. *Doe v. Gonzaga*, 143 Wn.2d 687 (2001). In *Richmond*, this court noted that personal knowledge of assault allegations, if true, is sufficient for malice if false. See also *Ratner v. Kohler*, No. 17-00542 HG-KSC, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 30761 (D. Haw. 02/26/18); see also *Chastain v. Hodgdon*, 202 F.Supp.3d 1216, 1221-22 (D. Kan. 2016), (sexual assault cases). When court failed to infer knowledge of falsity, it mooted the bad faith .510 defense.

C. Conflict with *Davis vs. Cox*: In *Davis* this Supreme Court deemed the subtle differences in attorney fees provided in the RCW 4.24.525 fee assessment procedures that tipped the balance between litigation-deterrence over the right to litigate too far. The decision appealed in this case, hammered the delicate balancing scale defined in *Davis v. Cox*:

Whatever the precise contours of the line, RCW4.24.525(6)a doubtlessly falls on the impermissible side that punishes the exercise of the right to petition. In addition to attorney fees and

cost shifting, the statute assesses a statutory penalty of \$ 10,000 (potentially to each movant, as in this case below, where \$ 160,000 was awarded in total to the 16 movants) and "[s]uch additional relief...as the court determines to be necessary to deter repetition of the conduct and comparable conduct by others similarly situated."RCW 4.24.525(6)(a)(iii). This is harsh punishment for bringing what may be a nonfrivolous claim, albeit one that cannot show by clear and convincing evidence a probability of succeeding at trial.

Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 69, 96, ftnte. 12.

The trial and appeals court assessed those fees anyway.

- (2) Conflicts with other published Court of Appeals decisions as approved in *Leishman* and herein.
- (3) The decisions raise a significant questions of law under the Federal or State Constitutions.
- A. Denial of right to trial. The court denied Mr. Sanchez's state and federal rights to a jury trial. Seventh Amend., U.S. Const. and Wash Const., art. 1, § 1, (Davis, 183 Wn.2d 69, 96, note 7). When the trial court substituted its evaluation of the evidence in this case for a jury's, it was error including the court's failure to consider reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to Mr. Sanchez. Instead, the court determined credibility by disregarding Sanchez's detailed denials. KMP urged the court to consider the

officers' opinions of guilt. The court denied Sanchez his right to present facts *Leishman* found relevant. See also *Johnson v. Ryan*, 186 Wn. App. 562 (2015) citing *Wilson* v. *State*, 84 Wn. App. 332, 342 (1996).

- **B.** The court denied the right to present evidence. The rulings were unresponsive to the evidence submitted. (see appendices).
- C. Denial of the right to counsel in a civil case. The Court of Appeals affirmed the court's denial (without comment) of counsel's withdrawal and continuance motions. The court held that with a conflict between counsel and client on apportioning sanctions between them, there is no conflict when not ripe. But that was not the conflict. In applying *In re Wixom*, 182 Wn.2d 1938 (1994), the appeals court ruled on a different conflict than what Chang proffered in its affidavits: The lawyer's compelling interest (in losing his client's summary judgment hearing) disqualified him. The record did not support that the court considered the conflict, let alone whether it necessitated withdrawal. Any ruling is an abuse of discretion when nothing in the record supports it. Once the court

denied Chang's withdrawal for substitution pursuant to RPC 1.7(c), the court became responsible for denying Sanchez representation.

See *Bounds v. Smith*, 430 U.S. 817 (1977).³

D. Right to litigate offset counterclaims. Immunity is a shield: not a sword. This court should consider whether the right to defend against civil claims creates a constructive waiver of the SLAPP defense against the original claim from the same transaction (the assault that the plaintiff falsely filed a private lawsuit for).

E. Right to be present. The court denied Sanchez his right to be present when his lawyer never told Mr. Sanchez about the hearing's commencement to allow telephonic presence. The court used facts

³ Prisoners have a constitutional right of access to the courts. Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817, 821, 97 S. Ct. 1491, 52 L. Ed. 2d 72 (1977), abrogated on other grounds by Lewis v. Casey, 518 U.S. 343, 116 S. Ct. 2174, 135 L. Ed. 2d 606 (1996). This right includes access to civil proceedings. Whitney v. Buckner, 107 Wn.2d 861, 865, 734 P.2d 485 (1987) (citing Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539, 578-79, 94 S. Ct. 2963, 41 L. Ed. 2d 935 (1974)). Prisons must also provide basic supplies to the extent necessary to ensure that a prisoner's access to the court is meaningful. The Supreme Court has further rule that a prisoner must be provided legal counsel if it means he will receive a "meaningful appeal." Douglas v. California, 372 U.S. 353 (1963).

unsupported in the record that Sanchez knew about the scheduled hearing and chose not to appear...at a hearing that cost him over \$40,000 that was in his attorney's existential interest to lose.

- 4. The decision involves the following substantial issues of public interest that only this court can determine.
- (a) Expanding *Leishman* beyond this court's intent reduces attorneys to a blackjack dealer's function to explain the rules, risking public anxiety and resentment. (b) It disturbs the balance between the right to access government services vs. the right to tort recovery. (c) Public interest is tied to its fear of whether a child can spread false allegations with total immunity if the police are later called by anyone. (d) Whether lawyers serve their profession when their work is not reviewed is of interest to lawyers and the public. The gaps in the court's response to submissions concern anyone seeking justice when the tribunal is unresponsive.
- V. CONCLUSION: For the aforesaid reasons, petitioner requests review of the decisions in the attached appendices.

VI. APPENDICES

KMP v. Sanchez

- 1. COA 02/22/21 Decision
- 2. COA Denial of Reconsideration on 03/16/21
- 3. Superior Court Order 06/06/19 Denying Sanchez's Motion to Continue the Trial Date & Withdrawal/Substitution.
- 4. Superior Court order 06/21/19 granting summary judgment
- 5. Superior Court 07/23/19 Order denying reconsideration
- 6. Superior Court 10/15/19 Order for RCW 4.25.510 sanctions against Sanchez.
- 7. 05/20/19 Chang Declaration
- 8. 06/03/19 Henrikson Declaration
- 9. 02/14/20 Order regarding Appellant's Motion and Declaration to Allow Appendices
- 10. 02/06/20 Motion and Declaration to Allow Appendices to Appellant's Opening Brief

APPENDICE 1

FILED 2/22/2021 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

K.M.P., a minor child, by and through her natural mother and custodial parent, SARAH HALL PINHO, an individual,) No. 80293-3-I))
Respondents,	<i>)</i>
٧.)
BIG BROTHER BIG SISTERS OF PUGET SOUND and MICHAEL WAYNE SANCHEZ,))) PUBLISHED OPINION)
Appellant,)))

VERELLEN, J. — When a minor child tells their caregiver that they have been abused and the caregiver relays that information to police, both the child and the caregiver are "persons" communicating information to police entitled to immunity under the anti-SLAPP statute, RCW 4.24.510.1

The alleged abuser's argument that the child's statement to her caregiver is not covered by the anti-SLAPP statute fails. To require a minor child to call 911 herself to acquire immunity would be an absurd result. The child is entitled to immunity against the abuser's defamation claim based upon her comments to her caregiver.

¹ The acronym SLAPP stands for strategic lawsuit against public participation.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in issuing CR 11 sanctions against the defendant's attorney or denying the attorney's motion to withdraw.

As the prevailing party on appeal, the child is entitled to attorney fees under RCW 4.24.510.

Therefore, we affirm.

<u>FACTS</u>

On April 29, 2016, nine-year-old KMP joined her "big sister" from Big Brothers Big Sisters of Puget Sound (BBBS) for a trip to a local lake.² KMP and her "big sister" walked to the dock where people were fishing. Michael Sanchez, one of the fisherman, caught a fish and asked KMP if she wanted to reel it in. KMP agreed, and Sanchez "positioned [her] right in front" of him "so he was right behind her" holding on to the pole. Soon after, KMP knelt down beside the lake to rinse her hands, and Sanchez "held on to her jacket." Later, Sanchez approached KMP again so he could tie a longer string to her fish.

About 15 minutes later, KMP told her "big sister" that Sanchez had "inappropriately touched" her on her "privates." Moments later, her "big sister" received a phone call from Sarah Pinho, KMP's mother. Her "big sister" told Pinho

² "Big Brothers Big Sisters of Puget Sound is a youth-serving nonprofit in Washington [s]tate. Its mission is to provide children facing adversity with strong and enduring, professionally supported one-on-one relationships that change their lives for the better. Big Brothers Big Sisters of Puget Sound makes monitored matches between adult volunteers ("Bigs") and children ("Littles"), ages 6 through 18." Appellant's Br. at 5.

³ Clerk's Papers (CP) at 808.

⁴ CP at 183.

what happened and then called the police after Pinho urged her to. Within minutes, the police arrived and KMP told them Sanchez touched her inappropriately.

On July 25, 2017, KMP sued her "big sister" and BBBS for negligence and sued Sanchez for sexual battery. The trial court dismissed her "big sister," and BBBS settled with KMP. Sanchez entered an Alford⁵ plea to the charge of attempted second degree child molestation. As a result of Sanchez's guilty plea, KMP moved to dismiss her sexual battery claim against Sanchez. Sanchez objected and filed various counterclaims against KMP.⁶

When Sanchez filed his counterclaims, he was also a respondent in a sexually violent predator (SVP) civil commitment proceeding. One of Sanchez's attorney's in the SVP case, Kenneth Henrikson, assisted Sanchez in drafting and filing pleadings in his civil action against KMP, until his superiors insisted that he terminate the representation. Henrikson asked his former colleague, Kenneth Chang, to represent Sanchez.

In March 2019, KMP's counsel met with Chang and provided him with deposition transcripts from KMP's sexual battery case and a copy of RCW 4.24.510, the anti-SLAPP statute. KMP's counsel told Chang that if Sanchez did not agree to terminate the litigation, KMP would seek both the statutory remedies provided by RCW 4.24.510 and CR 11 sanctions against Chang.

⁵ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1970).

⁶ The only counterclaim at issue on appeal is defamation.

Soon after, KMP filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that Sanchez had insufficient evidence to establish a prima facie case of his defamation counterclaim and that, under RCW 4.24.510, she was immune from all counterclaims arising from her report of sexual abuse.

The trial court granted KMP's motion for summary judgment. The trial court concluded that KMP was immune from civil liability under RCW 4.24.510 because "without evidence of any malice or of any ill-content" there was no evidence "that a child could be liable for reporting abuse to her caregivers." As a result, the trial court ordered Sanchez to pay \$10,000 in statutory damages under RCW 4.24.510 and Chang to pay \$4,000 in CR 11 sanctions.

Sanchez appeals.

ANALYSIS

I. Immunity from civil liability under RCW 4.24.510

Sanchez contends that KMP is not entitled to immunity or statutory damages under RCW 4.24.510 because the statute does not apply to conversations between private persons. Specifically, Sanchez argues that KMP's communication of sexual abuse to her "big sister" was not protected speech under section .510 because the statute can only immunize KMP's direct statements to police.

⁷ RP (Sept. 16, 2019) at 85.

"We review an order granting summary judgment de novo." Summary judgment is appropriate "only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." We view the evidence in the "light most favorable to the non-moving party." The party opposing a motion for summary judgment may not rely on speculation [or] on argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain." "Ultimate facts or conclusions of fact are insufficient; conclusory statements of fact will not suffice."

We interpret a statute based on the statute's plain meaning and the legislature's intent.¹³

The anti-SLAPP statute, RCW 4.24.510, provides:

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