FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/1/2021 11:18 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99672-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON K.M.P., a minor child, by and through her natural mother and custodial parent, SARAH HALL PINHO, Respondents/Plaintiffs, v. BIG BROTHERS BIG SISTERS OF PUGET SOUND, and MICHAEL WAYNE SANCHEZ, an individual, Petitioner/Defendant. Court of Appeals No. 80293-3-I RESPONDENT'S OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Richard L. Anderson, WSBA #25115 SCHROETER, GOLDMARK & BENDER

> 500 Central Building 810 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 622-8000

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Petitioner's Reliance on Leishman v. Ogden Murphy Wallace, PLLC as Demonstrating a Conflict in Supreme Court Decisions is Misplaced

Leishman v. Odgen Murphy Wallace, PLLC held only that a government contractor, and the employees working for that contractor, hired to perform an investigation into employee misconduct were entitled to the anti-SLAPP protections of RCW 4.24.510. 196 Wn.2d 898, 479 P.3d 688 (2021). The fact that Leishman arguably expanded the interpretation of "person" within the anti-SLAPP statute has no bearing on the Court of Appeals decision in this matter. In fact, the only reference by the Court of Appeals to Leishman was in the context of explaining that the legislature intended for the provisions of the anti-SLAPP statute to shield multiple persons making a "single report or communication" to law enforcement. Sanchez improperly interprets the Court of Appeals to have considered the child KMP and her chaperone Tishman to be part of the same entity or group of persons, and thus misses the point.

Nothing in the Court of Appeals decision in this case demonstrates that neither the chaperone Tishman or the child KMP were only considered a "person" because of their identity as a single group or entity. On the

contrary, it defies logic to fail to consider both Tishman and KMP "persons" for the purposes of RCW 4.24.510. Instead, the Court of Appeals used basic tools of statutory construction and specifically the language of RCW 1.12.050 ("[w]ords importing the singular number may also be applied to the plural of persons and things") to determine that Tishman and KMP were making the same "communication" to law enforcement about Sanchez's abuse of KMP, and therefore were entitled to the immunity provided by RCW 4.24.510.

As explained by the Court of Appeals (and completely ignored by Sanchez in his petition for review), the permissibility of considering multiple people, who are making the same or a single report to law enforcement, to be a single "person" within the meaning of RCW 4.24.510 comports with statutory construction principles of avoiding absurd results. Samish Indian Nation v. Wash. Dep't of Licensing, 14 Wn. App. 2d 437, 444, 471 P.3d 261 (2020) (quoting In re Dep. of D.L.B., 186 Wn.2d 103, 119, 376 P.3d 1099 (2016)). In addition, the Court of Appeals decision properly interpreted the legislature's intent of the anti-SLAPP statute by considering statutes that were closely related to it, like that of the child abuse reporting statute, RCW 26.44.060, which protects caregivers from their relaying of information about child abuse (likely to have been provided to them by the abused child themselves) to law enforcement.

Contrary to Sanchez's contention, the decision of the Court of Appeals to protect children and their caregivers with immunity provided by RCW 4.24.510 is actually entirely consistent with the prior authority of this Court and other Washington appellate decisions on statutory construction. Requiring a child to first communicate her abuse directly to law enforcement to garner the same immunity protections provided to others under anti-SLAPP statute is untenable, and well, frankly absurd. For these reasons, the *Leishman* case does not provide this Court with a valid reason to consider review here.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict with *Richmond v. Thompson*

Nothing about the Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with *Richmond v. Thompson* whatsoever. 130 Wn.2d 368, 922 P.2d 1343 (1996). Indeed, it is not even clear what part of *Thompson* Mr. Sanchez believes has been implicated here. In this case, the Court of Appeals upheld the determination by the trial court that Sanchez presented only subjective evidence of his own perception that KMP possessed actual malice towards him, and that subjective evidence of this nature is insufficient to demonstrate actual malice for purposes of defeating summary judgment. This finding does not contradict anything about *Richmond v. Thompson*, and further is entirely consistent with Washington cases regarding proof of

actual malice. Thus, any perceived conflict with *Richmond* is illusory and should not be a basis for this Court to grant review.

C. Davis v. Cox Invalidated Attorney's Fees Under a Provision of RCW 4.24.500 that Was Not Utilized By the Trial or Appeals Court in This Case

Sanchez's next objection relies on RCW 4.24.525, a provision that was both deemed unconstitutional in *Davis v. Cox*, but that also was not utilized here. The fees imposed by the trial court were supported by RCW 4.24.510, which entitles a party prevailing on the anti-SLAPP defense to recover reasonable expenses and attorney fees. In addition, the court shall impose a statutory penalty of \$10,000. *Id.* Why Sanchez continues to argue portions of the statute that are not at issue in this case is unknown.

D. Sanchez Was Not Denied the Opportunity for Counsel, to Present Evidence, or to Be Present in Court

Sanchez's argument in his petition that he was denied the right to counsel is opaque and undeveloped, saying only that his attorney had a compelling interest in losing the summary judgment motion. He makes this argument absent any evidence in the record and without articulating it further. Similarly, he argues that he was not permitted to be present for the summary judgment hearing, despite a complete lack of evidence that he was denied an opportunity to participate in the hearing. *K.M.P. by and through Pinho v. Big Brother Big Sisters of Puget Sound*, No. 80293-3-I at *12, fn. 41, 483 P.3d 119 (2021). Moreover, the fact that the trial court did not

find the evidence of Sanchez's own subjective perception of KMP's actions at the time of the incident sufficient to defeat summary judgment is not a failure to consider such evidence or provide due process. *Id.* at *9. One may wonder how Sanchez hopes to continue this protracted and harassing litigation by making factually unsupported and legally unsound arguments, but those tactics have served Sanchez's intentions thus far. This Court should not indulge him any further.

IV. REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES

A party prevailing on the defense provided for in the anti-SLAPP statute is entitled to an award of attorney's fees and expenses. RCW 4.24.510. As a result, the trial court awarded KMP her statutorily provided for fees and costs. CP 1295-1301. Likewise, KMP was awarded her attorney fees and expenses for prevailing in her appeal to Division One. *K.M.P. by and through Pinho v. Big Brother Big Sisters of Puget Sound*, No. 80293-3-I at *12, 483 P.3d 119 (2021). Similarly, KMP is entitled to her reasonable attorney fees and costs here. RAP 18.1(j). KMP respectfully requests this Court allow for her reasonable attorney fees and expenses on appeal.

V. **CONCLUSION**

The opinion of the Court of Appeals was neither erroneous nor does

it meet the criteria for review by the Supreme Court. Petitioner Sanchez has

taken every opportunity to prolong the attack on his child victim of sexual

assault by filing appeal after appeal, none of which are based in meritorious

legal argument or facts in the record. While Plaintiffs have no doubt they

will prevail should review be accepted, they should be permitted to find

some reprieve from this ugly chapter in their lives with the knowledge that

Mr. Sanchez's retaliation against them for reporting his sexual abuse is

finally over. Thus, they respectfully ask this Court that review be denied.